IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FAIEZ ENNABE, individually and as Administrator, etc. et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

CARLOS MANOSA et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No. S189577

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR - 8 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division One

Case Number B222784

Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles

Case Number KC053945

The Honorable Robert A. Dukes, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Abdalla J. Innabi (S.B. No. 172302) Amer Innabi (S.B. No. 225413) Innabi Law Group, APC 2500 E. Colorado Blvd., Suite 230 Pasadena, CA 91107

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

This case presents the following issues as framed by this Court:

- 1. Is a person who hosts a party at a residence, and who furnishes alcoholic beverages and charges an admission fee to uninvited guests, a "social host" within the meaning of Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c), and hence immune from civil liability for furnishing alcoholic beverages?
- 2. Under the circumstances here, does such a person fall within the exception stated by Business and Professions Code section 25602.1 to the ordinary immunity from civil liability for furnishing alcoholic beverages provided by Business and Professions Code section 25602, subdivision (b)?

Based upon the stated intent of the legislature and the plain language of the applicable laws of this state, the answers to the above issues are: 1) no and 2) yes.

II. INTRODUCTION

The issues raised in the instant matter are important to defining the legal parameters of the "social host" immunity created by Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) and the factual circumstances when that immunity and the immunity created by Business and Professions ("B&P") Code section 25602, subdivision (b) should yield to civil liability under B&P Code section 25602.1. Based on the language, history, and purpose of these statutes and all applicable authority contained within California's Alcoholic Beverage Control Act of 1935 ("ABC Act"), this Court must find that when a person furnishes alcoholic beverages and charges an admission fee to uninvited minor guests that person is not immune from civil liability for furnishing alcoholic beverages and can be held liable under B&P Code section 25602.1.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In July 2009, Plaintiffs and Appellants, Faiez and Christina Ennabe, individually and on behalf of the Estate of Andrew Ennabe ("plaintiffs") filed a

First Amended Complaint against Defendants and Respondents Carlos, Mary and Jessica Manosa ("defendants") for the wrongful death of their 19 year old son, Andrew Ennabe ("decedent"). [1AA 001-006.] Plaintiffs asserted three separate causes of action based on: 1) general negligence, 2) premises liability, and 3) B&P Code section 25602.1. [1AA 011-016.]

In September 2009, defendants answered the amended complaint and filed a motion for summary judgment or, in the alternative, a motion for summary adjudication on the basis that: 1) defendants did not owe a duty to plaintiffs to protect decedent from harm, 2) there is no causation between any acts or omissions of defendants and the death of the decedent, and 3) B&P Code section 25602.1 is inapplicable under the circumstances. [1AA 020, 025-050.] Despite the parties asserting numerous evidentiary objections, the trial court overruled every objection and granted defendants' motion for summary judgment in its entirety on January 12, 2010. [2AA 487-496.] Judgment was eventually entered by the trial court on February 19, 2010. [2AA 497-501.]

Plaintiffs subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal for this matter on March 1, 2010. [2AA 497-501.] Following oral argument on November 15, 2010, the Court of Appeal filed its published opinion on December 1, 2010, affirming summary judgment in favor of Defendant Jessica Manosa. Plaintiffs subsequently filed a Petition for Rehearing on December 10, 2010, which was denied with modification on December 20, 2010.

Consequently, plaintiffs filed a Petition for Review with the Supreme Court of California on January 7, 2011. Ultimately, the Supreme Court granted plaintiffs' Petition for Review on March 23, 2011.

Plaintiffs have not and do not challenge the propriety of the lower courts' rulings as to Defendants Carlos and Mary Manosa. The instant appeal only relates to the ruling for Defendant Jessica Manosa.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the evening of April 27, 2007, Defendant Jessica Manosa ("defendant"), the then, 20 year old daughter of Defendants Carlos and Mary Manosa, hosted a house party open to the public at a vacant and unfurnished rental property owned, maintained and/or controlled by each of them in Diamond Bar, California. [1AA 014-016, 2AA 328:10-23.]

Defendant, along with her friends, Cross-defendants Marcello Aquino and Mario Aparicio ("cross-defendants"), invited mutual friends to her party. [2AA 331:22-332:1, 344:2-14, 371:11-372:24, 373:13-25, 377.] Despite defendant's claim that she invited only a few close friends (allegedly fewer than 15), the party attracted approximately 60 people. [2AA 331:22-332:1, 344:2-14, 371:11-372:24, 377.] *The vast majority of the people who attended the party were under the age of 21 years*, and approximately one-third of those admitted into the party were unknown and uninvited by defendant. [2AA 312:22-25, 332:10-17.]

On the evening of the party, *unknown and uninvited guests who arrived at* the residence were charged a \$3 to \$5 admission fee to enter the party and drink alcohol already purchased by defendant. [2AA 332:22-333:12, 334:17-335:16, 343:2-6, 350:17-22, 351:22-352:13, 353:4-11, 354:5-13, 362:19-363:4, 365:4-19, 387, 389-391, 402-404.] Specifically, defendant directed a friend of Cross-defendant Aquino, Todd Brown, to serve as a "bouncer" at the side gate of the residence and charge unfamiliar guests as they approached the premises. [2AA 332:22-333:12, 334:17-335:16, 343:2-6, 351:22-352:13, 353:4-11, 354:5-13, 362:19-363:4, 365:4-19, 387, 389-391, 402-404.] Defendant does not contest that an admission fee was charged to uninvited guests on the evening of the incident. [See Respondent's Brief from Court of Appeal at p. 4] In fact, unknown and uninvited guests were specifically told by Brown that payment allowed them entry into the party and unlimited access to any alcohol contained on the property. [2AA 332:22-333:12, 334:17-335:16, 343:2-6, 351:22-352:13, 353:4-11, 354:5-

13, 362:19-363:4, 365:4-19, 387, 389-391, 402-404.] Invited guests were admitted without charge into the party.

Central to defendant's party was the presentation and consumption of alcohol. [2AA 310:18-311:10] The alcohol, several cases of beer, at least three to four bottles of tequila and rum, a large cooler of "jungle juice," cups, and mixers were provided at the party without limitation by defendant to all guests in a communal setting. [1AA 139 and 2AA 308:5-310:17, 311:11-17, 312, 315:9-316:11, 318:13-15, 380-382.] With the exception of mixers, ice, and plastic cups which were provided by the defendant, alcohol was the only consumable item made available by defendant to admitted guests. [2AA 308:21-25, 309:1-12, 310:18-25, 311:1-17.] Other than the alcohol purchased by defendant no other alcohol was brought onto the premises by any guest in attendance at the party. [2AA 318:13-15.]

Defendant testified that she purchased the alcohol at the party by providing approximately \$60.00 towards the purchase of alcohol for the party. [1AA 139 and 2AA 295:9-10, 308:5-310:17, 312, 313:9-24, 315:9-316:11, 318:13-15.] *Both cross-defendants denied purchasing or supplying any alcohol for defendant's party.* [2AA 350:9-22, 373:2-8.] In the end, defendant clearly understood that she was the host of the party and it was entirely "her own idea." [2AA 303:17-19, 321:5-7, 370:10-16.]

Some time during the party, David Ennabe, the younger brother of Andrew Ennabe, the decedent in this matter, personally observed and heard defendant tell Cross-defendant Aparicio and Stephen Filaos, another invited guest, to purchase additional alcohol for the party and to obtain *some* funds for the additional alcohol from the admission fees collected by Brown at the side gate of the house. [2AA 402-404.] Despite defendant not recalling whether an additional alcohol run was made during the party, Hani Abuershaid, the brother of defendant's boyfriend,

² "Jungle juice" is a mixture of various forms of hard alcohol and fruit juice.

specifically heard Filaos tell Brown and Cross-defendant Aquino that, "Jessica told me to get money from you to get more alcohol." [2AA 345:1-7, 346:5-347:6.] Moreover, Abuershaid stated he saw Filaos take *some* money from Brown for the purpose of purchasing additional alcohol for the party and leave with Cross-defendant Aparicio for the store. [2AA 345:1-7, 346:5-347:6.] Approximately 30 minutes later David Ennabe observed the additional alcohol being brought onto the premises by Cross-defendant Aparicio and Filaos. [2AA 402-404.]

During the course of the party, two underage³ guests, Thomas Garcia and Andrew Ennabe, the decedent, arrived obviously intoxicated but were nonetheless admitted into the party and provided with additional alcohol supplied by defendant. [1AA 056, 139 and 2AA 308:5-309:12, 312-313:3, 313:9-24, 315:9-316:11, 317:2-17, 318:13-15, 320:9-24, 336:2-338:14, 340:10-15, 357:15-24, 358:5-21, 359:1-19, 360:9-25, 364:19-22, 380-382, 387, 389-391, 402-404.] Garcia, an unknown and uninvited guest, was admitted into the party and given unlimited access to alcohol only after paying an admission fee of \$20.00 on behalf of himself and his friends. [2AA 318:13-15, 336:2-9, 362:19-363:4, 387.]

Upon his arrival, Garcia appeared to be clearly intoxicated and belligerent to several witnesses based upon his outward appearance and actions. Witnesses Abuershaid, Mike Bosley, a childhood acquaintance of Garcia and uninvited guest at defendant's party, David Ennabe and both cross-defendants observed Garcia display behavior that led them to believe that Garcia was already intoxicated from either consuming alcohol and/or smoking marijuana. According to these witnesses, Garcia had slurred speech, impaired faculties, poor muscular coordination, and acted in a rowdy and belligerent manner. [2AA 336:2-338:14, 389-391, 402-404, 415-421.] Additionally, Garcia admitted during his deposition that he had consumed what he believed to be approximately four shots of whiskey

³ "Underage" or "minor" shall mean persons under the age of 21 years of age.

prior to his arrival at defendant's party. [2AA 358:5-21, 359:1-19, 360:9-25, 364:19-22.]

With regard to decedent, an invited guest of defendant, it was known to defendant, Bosley, and David Ennabe that he arrived at defendant's party from another party where he had already become intoxicated from drinking alcohol. [2AA 320:9-321:1, 389-391, 402-404.]

While on the premises, decedent and Garcia consumed additional amounts of alcohol provided by defendant. David Ennabe observed decedent drink alcohol supplied by the defendant during the party. [2AA 320:9-321:1, 389-391, 402-404.] With regard to Garcia, Abuershaid observed him drink what appeared to be a beer taken from defendants' refrigerator. [2AA 330:12-24, 340:10-15, 341:1-18.] Bosley spoke to Garcia during the party and saw him drink tequila and mixed alcoholic beverages made available at the party. [2AA 389-391.] This additional alcohol caused Garcia to become overly belligerent with others partygoers. [2AA 415-421.] In fact, Garcia was so intoxicated that he was seen dropping his pants several times while dancing, soliciting sex, and aggressively "hitting on" females at the party. [2AA 340:10-25, 341:21-342:11, 415-421.] As a result of his inappropriate behavior and increased intoxication, Garcia was asked to leave the party and was escorted off the premises to his vehicle. Once in his vehicle, Garcia drove away and struck decedent who was near the front portion of defendants' property. Decedent's own alcohol consumption caused his faculties, including his judgment, perception, coordination, balance and reflexes to become significantly impaired. [2AA 415-421.] As such, decedent was unable to perceive and avoid the oncoming vehicle being driven by Garcia who was also under the influence of alcohol. [2AA 320:9-321:1, 330:12-24, 340:10-15, 341:1-18, 340:10-

Garcia stated during his criminal sentencing hearing that "it was not [his] intention to hit [the Ennabe's] son..." and that he "really had no recollection of what happened that night." [2AA 432-434, 415-421.]

25, 341:21-342:11, 389-391, 402-404, 415-421.] As a result of this incident, decedent sustained fatal injuries and died approximately one week later.

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

On appeal after a motion for summary judgment has been granted, the appellate court reviews the record de novo, considering all the evidence set forth in the moving and opposition papers except that to which objections have been made and sustained. (*Guz v. Bechtel National, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 317, 334.) A trial court presented with timely evidentiary objections in proper form must expressly rule on the individual objections, and it if does not, the objections are deemed waived pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 437c, subdivision (d), and the objected-to evidence is included in the record for purposes of appellate review. (*Demps v. San Francisco Housing Authority* (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 564, 578.)

Under California's traditional rules, the appellate court determines with respect to each cause of action whether the defendant seeking summary judgment has conclusively negated a necessary element of the plaintiffs' case, or has demonstrated that under no hypothesis is there a material issue of fact which requires the process of trial, such that the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (*Id.*) In practical effect, the appellate court assumes the role of a trial court and applies the same rules and standards that govern a trial court's determination of a motion for summary judgment. (*Kelly v. First Astri Corp.* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 462, 470.)

Because a summary judgment denies the adverse party a trial, it should be granted with caution. (*Assilzadeh v. Cal. Fed. Bank* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 399, 409.) Declarations of the defendants are strictly construed, those of the appellants are liberally construed, and doubts as to whether a summary judgment should be granted must be resolved in favor of the plaintiffs. (*Id.*) The court focuses on

issue finding; it does not resolve issues of fact. The court seeks to find contradictions in the evidence or in inferences reasonably deducible from the evidence, which raise a triable issue of material fact. (*Id.*) Ultimately, the reviewing court must view the record in a light most favorable to plaintiffs and assume as true plaintiffs' version of all disputed facts presented in opposition to the summary judgment motion. (*Wilson v. Murillo* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 1124, 1128.) Under this standard of review, summary judgment should have been denied.

- B. DEFENDANT WAS NOT A "SOCIAL HOST" WITHIN THE MEANING OF CIVIL CODE SECTION 1714, SUBDIVISION (C) ON THE EVENING OF THE INCIDENT WHEN SHE CHARGED UNINVITED GUESTS AN ADMISSION FEE FOR ENTRY INTO HER PARTY AND ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES SHE HAD ALREADY PURCHASED FOR THEIR CONSUMPTION.
 - 1. Defendant Was Not a "Social Host" Based on its Ordinary and Plain Meaning.

Generally, when a court attempts to discern the meaning of a statute, "it is well settled that [a court] must look first to the words of the statute, 'because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1094, 1103.) "If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous [the court's] inquiry ends. 'If there is no ambiguity in the language, we presume the Legislature meant what it said and the plain meaning of the statute governs.' In reading statutes, we are mindful that words are to be given their plain and commonsense meaning." (*Id.*)

Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) specifically provides, "No social host who furnishes alcoholic beverages to any person may be held legally accountable for damages suffered by that person, or for injury to the person or property of, or death of, any third person, resulting from the consumption of those beverages." (Civ. Code § 1714, subd. (c) (emphasis added).) However, it is the clear intent of the legislature that "the act of selling alcohol to obviously

intoxicated minors for commercial gain should be sufficient basis for imposing liability." (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1053 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) (emphasis added).)

Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) specifically immunizes "social hosts" from civil liability without defining the terms "social host." Based on a plain reading of Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c), the legislature specifically intended that "social hosts" be the only class of persons civilly immunized from liability under the law.

In determining the plain meaning of "social host," the individual terms, "social" and "host" must be interpreted in conjunction with one another.

According to Merriam-Webster's Dictionary, the term "social" is "marked by or passed in pleasant companionship with *one's friends or associates*." (See www.merriam-webster.com (emphasis added).) Moreover, something that is "social" relates to "human society, the interaction of the individual and the group, or the welfare of human beings as members of society." (*Id.*) A "host" is defined as one that "receives or entertains guests socially, commercially or officially." "Host" also means "one that provides facilities for an event or function." (*Id.*) "Commercial" is defined as "occupied with or engaged in commerce or work intended for commerce" or "viewed with regard to profit." (*Id.*)

Taking into consideration the terms "social host" in conjunction, it can only be interpreted that the legislature intended to protect solely those "hosts" who "receive or entertain friends and associates for pleasant companionship." Consequently, it can safely be inferred that commercial hosts, those who "provide facilities for an event or function" while "occupied or engaged in commerce" or acting "with a regard to profit," would be left unprotected by Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c).

Based on the plain meaning of "social host," defendant was not a "social host" within the meaning Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) under the facts. Generally speaking, a "social" host would not arrange for a "bouncer," open their

residence to individuals *unknown to them* (i.e. people who are not friends or associates), and then allow them to remain on the property. More importantly, a "social" host who only seeks "pleasant companionship" would not *require* those same unknown and uninvited guests to *pay an admission fee* to enter their residence and consume their food and drink, in this case *alcohol which defendant already purchased*, unless they were "engaged in commerce" or "with a regard to profit."

Here, defendant opened a vacant and unfurnished residence to unknown and uninvited guests and "sold" or "caused to be sold any alcoholic beverages" to them through a "bouncer" who charged an admission fee she required for her own commercial gain. [2AA 328:10-23, 332:22-333:12, 334:17-335:16, 343:4-6, 345:1-7, 346:13-347:6, 351:22-352:13, 353:4-11, 354:5-13, 362:19-363:4, 365:4-19, 387, 389-391, 402-404.] (See section V.C.4 below for a detailed analysis of the meaning of "sale" and "caused to be sold.") With the exception of mixers, ice, and plastic cups provided by defendant, *alcohol was the only consumable item made available by defendant to admitted guests*. [2AA 308:21-25, 309:1-12, 310:18-25, 311:1-17.] Based on the foregoing, defendant is not a "social host" within the plain meaning of Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) under the circumstances because she provided alcohol to unknown guests for a fee.

2. Defendant Was Not a "Social Host" Because She Committed Affirmative Acts which Necessitated the Acquisition of a Liquor License for Her Party.

The purpose of Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) will be advanced if this Court determines that this defendant was not a "social host" on the evening of the subject incident. Presumably, the legislature created the "social host" immunity in enacting Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (c) because it felt the State should not interfere in the private activities and events of its citizens involving alcohol consumption which would otherwise be legal at one's home. However, when certain activities and events are illegal because the permission of

the State has not been obtained (i.e. acquiring a liquor license), the State through its inherent police powers may regulate those activities or events it deems harmful to the public welfare of its citizens and determine when the "social host" immunity yields to civil liability in a given situation.

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