# S189577

2nd Civil No. B222784 LASC No. KC053945

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FAIZ ENNABE, Individually and as Administrator, etc., et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

SUPREME COURT FILED

CARLOS MANOSA, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

JUL **07** 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

# **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

From a Decision of the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One

Honorable Robert A. Dukes, Judge

### MORRIS, POLICH & PURDY LLP

Richard H. Nakamura Jr., SBN 150094 Dean A. Olson, SBN 126155 Sheena Y. Kwon, SBN 245015 1055 West Seventh Street, 24th Floor Los Angeles, California 90017-2503 Telephone: (213) 891-9100

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 25602.1 states:

First, *licensees or persons required to be licensed* forfeit their immunity when they sell, furnish or give, or cause to be sold, furnished or given away, any alcoholic beverage to an obviously intoxicated minor.

Second, *military vendors* – persons authorized by the federal government to sell alcoholic beverages on a military base or enclave – likewise forfeit their immunity when they sell, furnish or give, or cause to be sold, furnished or given away, any alcoholic beverage to an obviously intoxicated minor.

Third, "any other person" who sells, or causes to be sold, any alcoholic beverage to an obviously intoxicated minor forfeits their immunity. Only the act of "selling," or "causing to be sold," forfeits the immunity of "any other person." Neither "furnishing" nor "giving" of alcoholic beverages to an obviously intoxicated minor forfeits immunity under the "any other person" clause of section 25602.1. (Ennabe, supra, 190 Cal.App.4th at pp. 715-716.) 8

Ennabe relies upon the "any other person" and "required to be licensed" clauses. Because they are exceptions to statutory immunity, these provisions must be strictly construed. (*Elizarraras v. L.A. Private Security Services, Inc.* (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 237, 243 ["The statutory exception of section 25602.1 is a narrow one that is construed strictly."]; *Hernandez v Modesto Portuguese Pentecost Assn.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In the Court of Appeal, Ennabe argued that all three verbs –sells, furnishes and gives – forfeit immunity under the "any other person" clause. That argument was rejected by the Court of Appeal and has not been renewed in this Court.

(1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 1274, 1281 ["As the sole exception to statutory immunity, section 25602.1 must be strictly construed to effect the Legislature's intent."].)

# B. Civil Code Section 1714 Immunity And Its New, Inapplicable Exception

There is a separate immunity in the Civil Code. The Civil Code's immunity applies to a "social host" who "furnishes" alcohol to "any person." (Civ. Code, § 1714, subd.(c).) <sup>9</sup> The sole exception to the Civil Code's immunity occurs where a parent or other adult knowingly furnish alcoholic beverages at their residence to a minor. <sup>10</sup> The parent /adult exception to social host immunity took effect while this appeal was pending in the Court of Appeal (Stats. 2010, ch. 154, § 1) but Ennabe concedes the exception is not retroactive (AOB at p. 42) and in any event he has abandoned all claims against Manosa's parents, thus making the

Except as provided in subdivision (d), no social host who furnishes alcoholic beverages to any person may be held legally accountable for damages suffered by that person, or for injury to the person or property of, or death of, any third person, resulting from the consumption of those beverages. (Civ. Code, § 1714, subd. (c).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Civil Code section 1714 (c) states:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "Nothing in subdivision (c) shall preclude a claim against a parent, guardian or other adult who knowingly furnishes alcoholic beverages at his or her residence to a person under 21 years of age, in which case, notwithstanding subdivision (b), the furnishing of the alcoholic beverage may be found to be the proximate cause of resulting injuries or death." (Civ. Code, § 1714, subd. (d).)

parent/adult exception to the Civil Code's immunity not applicable to this case. (*Ennabe, supra,* 190 Cal.App.4th at p. 711 fn.3.)

The similarity in what forfeits the immunity under both statutes is important and telling. Under section 25602.1, the "selling" of alcohol to an obviously intoxicated minor – whether by a licensee, a person required to be licensed, a military vendor, or any other persons – forfeits the immunity. Under Civil Code section 1714, only the "furnishing" of alcohol by a social host is immunized. A "sale" is outside the scope and plain meaning of the social host immunity statute. Thus, a sale forfeits the immunity under both section 25602 and the Civil Code, and is also an element of statutory liability under section 26502.1.

### II. Why The Statutory Definition Of Sale Does Not Fit This Case

In construing a statute, a court ascertains the Legislature's intent to effectuate the statute's purpose. The court looks to the statute's words, giving those words their usual and ordinary meaning. The statute's plain meaning controls, unless the words are ambiguous. (*Imperial Merchant Services, Inc., supra,* 47 Cal.4th at p. 388.)

Words that appear facially unambiguous may nonetheless contain latent ambiguity. (Mosk v. Superior Court (1979) 25 Cal.3d 474, 495, fn. 18; Stanton v. Panish (1980) 28 Cal.3d 107, 115.) Latent ambiguity exists "when some extrinsic factor creates a need for interpretation or a choice between two or more possible meanings" (Varshock v. California Dept. of Forestry and Fire Protection (2011)

194 Cal.App.4th 635, 644), or where a literal interpretation would either frustrate the statute's purpose or produce absurd consequences. (*Horwich v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276.) "[I]ntent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (*Ibid.*)

Lastly, statutes are not construed in isolation. Rather, they are read "with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness." (*Horwich, supra,* 21 Cal.4th at p. 276.) If a statutory definition "is so discordant to common usage as to generate confusion, it should not be used." (Singer, 2A Statutes and Statutory Construction (7th ed. 2007), § 47:7, p. 301.)

## A. Applied Literally, The Statutory Definition Of Sale Produces Illogical Results Under Section 25602.1

Section 25602.1 does not define "sells" or "causes to be sold." A different section of the Act defines "sell," "sale," and "to sell." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 23025.) Applied literally, the statutory definition yields illogical results under section 25602.1.

The statutory definition of "sale" turns on transfer of title. Profit, whether expected or realized, is not an express component of the statutory definition.

Section 23025 states:

'Sell' or 'sale' or 'to sell' includes any transaction whereby, for any consideration, title to alcoholic

beverages is transferred from one person to another, and includes the delivery of alcoholic beverages pursuant to an order placed for the purchase of such beverages and soliciting or receiving an order for such beverages, but does not include the return of alcoholic beverages by a licensee to the licensee from whom such beverages were purchased. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 23025.) 11

In this case, the statutory definition of "sale" contains latent ambiguities, and a strict reading of the definition wholly blurs the distinction between "sells" and "furnishes." There are two ambiguities.

First, "title" is an unduly restrictive and unworkable concept in the context of communal alcohol. In the context of communal alcohol, how is title to be determined? If it belongs to everyone, it belongs to no one. As the Court of Appeal correctly observed, "it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine which individual or individuals held title to the alcoholic beverages" as Manosa and her guests were "both sellers and purchasers." (*Ennabe, supra,* 190 Cal.App.4th at pp. 716, 717.)

Second, "any consideration" is an overly broad and equally unworkable concept in the context of social parties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ennabe relies upon the transfer of title prong of the definition. No argument is made under the "deliveries pursuant to an order" prong.

Consideration need not be cash. (*H.S. Crocker Co. v. McFaddin* (1957) 148 Cal.App.2d 639, 645.) It encompasses "any value whatever, even that of a peppercorn, a tomtit, or one dollar in hand." (*In re Freeman's Estate* (1965) 238 Cal.App.2d 486, 489; Civ. Code, § 1605 [Defining "good consideration" as "[a]ny benefit conferred, or agreed to be conferred, upon the promisor, by any other person, to which the promisor is not lawfully entitled, or any prejudice suffered, or agreed to be suffered, by such person, other than such as he is at the time of consent lawfully bound to suffer, as an inducement to the promisor, is a good consideration for a promise."].)

If "any consideration" supports a sale under section 23025, then the mere promise of a guest to attend a party where the host promises to furnish alcohol falls within the literal definition of "sale" under the statute. Where mutual promises to "furnish" become a "sale," "furnish" is rendered superfluous.

Likewise, the guest who brings the dessert has provided "consideration" for the host who furnishes the alcohol. Again, this conflates "furnishes" with "sale." If a sale arises out of mutual promises to furnish food and libations, there is no distinction between "selling" and "furnishing." To say that these scenarios describe a "sale" reads "furnishes" out of the statute and defies common sense.

Thus, in the context of a social gathering, "any consideration" sweeps too broadly as an element of what constitutes a "sale" of alcoholic beverages.

Ennabe's responses to the Court of Appeal's approach underscore the ambiguities of the statutory definition.

### B. Ennabe's Transfer-Of-Title-Upon-Payment-At-The-Door Theory Illustrates The Limits Of The Statutory Definition

Ennabe argues a sale occurred under section 23025 because a transfer of title to alcohol occurred upon payment of the admission fee at the door. (AOB at p. 29.) It is an odd theory that yields irrational results.

What if an already intoxicated guest arrives, pays the \$3 or \$5 to get into the party, but leaves without having a drink? Has the guest, having paid only an admission fee and consumed no alcohol on the premises, nonetheless acquired title to alcohol? Is the host now exposed to civil liability under section 25602.1 even though the paying guest may not have consumed a drop of alcohol on the host's premises?

What if the guest arrives, sober, pays the \$3 or \$5 to get into the party, but drinks the alcohol provided by someone other than the host, i.e., the guest brings his own alcohol, or consumes alcohol provided by someone else, but not the host? Is the host subject to liability even though the guest again has not consumed a drop of the host's alcohol? Will proof turn on testimony as to the source of the alcohol consumed by the guest? Or, as the Court of Appeal implicitly asked, how is "title" to alcohol determined where buying and drinking is communal?

What if the guest arrives as part of a group and one pays for all? Who holds the title to alcohol if one pays for all to get in?

And what if the guest is admitted without charge? In this case, for instance,

not everyone was charged an entrance fee. (1 AA 91 [Abuershaid Depo.]; 2 AA 343 [same]; 2 AA 402 [D.Ennabe Dec.].) As to a "free admit" guest, Ennabe's theory holds there is no sale of alcohol. Can that guest overindulge without exposing his host to liability because no transfer of title occurred at the door?

Thus, Ennabe's construction leads to absurd results: the host is exposed to liability even if a paying guest consumes *no* alcohol, but is not exposed to liability if a free-admit guest consumes unlimited alcohol. That construction must be rejected. (*Upland Police Officers Ass'n v. City of Upland* (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1294, 1304 ["Even unambiguous statutes must be construed to avoid absurd results which do not advance the Legislative purpose."].)

Heedless of these concerns, Ennabe offers three legalistic rationales to support his transfer-of-title-at-the-door theory. None are persuasive.

### 1. The Commercial Code Analysis Is Inapt

Ennabe relies on a provision of the Commercial Code governing the passing of title. That provision states: "Title passes to the buyer at the time and place at which the seller completes his performance with reference to the physical delivery of the goods. . . ." (AOB p. 29, quoting Com. Code, § 2401.)

Ennabe cannot mix and match sections of the Commercial Code and the Act. The Legislature has expressly stated that the Commercial Code does not "impair or repeal any statute regulating sales to consumers, farmers or other specified classes of buyers." (Com. Code, § 2102.) The Commercial Code and

the Act have their own definitions of what constitutes a "sale." (Compare Com. Code, § 2106, subd. (1) with Bus. & Prof. Code, § 23025.) Further, title does not pass under the Commercial Code "prior to their identification to the contract." (Com. Code, § 2401, subd. (1).) Where is the prior identification of goods to the contract when a guest pays \$3 or \$5 to get in the door?

The Commercial Code analysis is inapt.

So is Ennabe's reliance on a public nuisance statute.

# 2. The Definition Of Consideration Under The Public Nuisance Statute Likewise Is Inapt.

Section 25604 governs public nuisances under the Act. <sup>12</sup> It does not define what constitutes a sale of alcohol. It does define "consideration" to include "cover charge." Ennabe apparently contends that because a cover charge constitutes consideration under the public nuisance statute, a cover charge likewise constitutes a sale under section 25602.1. (AOB at p. 30.) He is mistaken.

Sections 25604 and 25602.1 apply to different types of conduct. Section 25602.1 prohibits certain "sales" of alcohol. In contrast, section 25604 prohibits

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Section 25604 states, in pertinent part: "It is a public nuisance for any person to keep, maintain, operate or lease any premises for the purpose of providing therein for a consideration a place for the drinking of alcoholic beverages by members of the public or other persons, unless the person and premises are licensed under this division. As used herein 'consideration' includes cover charge, the sale of food, ice, mixers or other liquids used with alcoholic beverage drinks, or the furnishing of glassware or other containers for use in the consumption of alcoholic beverage drinks." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 25604; italics added.)

one from providing, for a consideration, a *place* to drink alcohol unless the person and the premises are licensed under the Act. This built-in defense ("unless the person and premises are licensed under this division") implies that section 25604 assumes a licensable commercial operation. The two cases applying and interpreting section 25604 support that proposition. (*People v. Frangadakis* (1960) 184 Cal.App.2d 540, 543 [defendant operated a restaurant]; *Hammond v. McDonald* (1942) 49 Cal.App.2d 671, 675 [defendant operated a café and lunch counter].) Here, Manosa was not licensable. (See *post* at pp. 45-47.) And the premises – the residential rental property owned by her parents – were neither licensable nor a commercial operation.

### 3. The Indirect Sale Theory Is Legally Untenable

Lastly, Ennabe suggests that section 25602.1 prohibits what he calls "indirect sales." His relies upon a 1937 amendment to the statutory definition of sale, and an *Information Guide* published by the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. (AOB at pp. 28-29; 30-31.)

The original definition of sale was amended in 1937, and has continued without change since then. (Compare Stats. 1935, ch. 330, § 2(1), pp. 1124-1125 with Stats. 1937, ch. 758, § 2(1), p. 2129.) <sup>13</sup> The 1937 amendment deleted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> After the repeal of Prohibition, California in 1935 adopted the Alcohol Beverage Control Act as an uncodified act. (Stats. 1935, ch. 330, § 1, p. 1123.) Eighteen years later, the Legislature codified the Act in Division Nine of the Business and Professions Code. (Stats. 1953, ch. 152, § 1, p. 1020.) The 1937 amendment

requirement that a transfer of title to alcohol must be accompanied by a transfer of possession. Ennabe views this as bolstering his transfer-of-title-at-the-door theory because while the original definition of "sale" required a transfer of possession (implicitly construed by Ennabe as a "direct" sale), the amended definition jettisoned the requirement for transfer of possession and thus embraced indirect sales as well. (AOB at pp. 28-29.) Not so.

The immunity is forfeited when one "sells" or "causes to be sold" alcohol. Ennabe offers no explanation as to how an "indirect" sale differs from "causes to be sold." "Causes to be sold" logically includes an indirect sale. Thus, Ennabe's "indirect" sale argument makes "causes to be sold" superfluous.

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